ENHANCING PREP UPTAKE AMONG MSM: FINDINGS FROM INTERVIEWS WITH RESEARCHERS AND PRACTITIONERS

by

Christopher S. Hoffmann

B.S. in Biological Sciences, University of Pittsburgh, 2013

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of
the Department of Behavioral and Community Health Sciences
Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment
of the requirements for the degree of
Master of Public Health

University of Pittsburgh

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

Graduate School of Public Health

This thesis was presented

by

Christopher S. Hoffmann

It was defended on

April 15th, 2016

and approved by:

James Egan, MPH, PhD
Visiting Research Assistant Professor
Behavioral and Community Health Sciences
Graduate School of Public Health
University of Pittsburgh

Mary Hawk, DrPH, LSW
Assistant Professor
Behavioral and Community Health Sciences
Graduate School of Public Health
University of Pittsburgh

Kevin Kearns, PhD
Professor of Public and Nonprofit Management
Graduate School of Public and International Affairs
University of Pittsburgh

Thesis Director:

Martha Ann Terry, PhD
Assistant Professor
Behavioral and Community Health Sciences
Graduate School of Public Health
University of Pittsburgh

Copyright © by Christopher S. Hoffmann

2016

ENHANCING PREP UPTAKE AMONG MSM: FINDINGS FROM INTERVIEWS

WITH RESEARCHERS AND PRACTITIONERS

Christopher Hoffmann, MPH

University of Pittsburgh, 2016

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND: HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) is a prescription antiretroviral

medication that an HIV-negative person who is at high risk for HIV infection takes once per day

to prevent infection. The most recent National HIV/AIDS Strategy identifies increasing PrEP

uptake among men who have sex with men (MSM) as a pillar of ending the AIDS epidemic. Extant

literature suggests that barriers to PrEP uptake among MSM are related to access, stigma, and

knowledge/attitudes.

METHODS: From February-March 2016, semi-structured interviews were conducted with

researchers and practitioners in the HIV prevention field who work with MSM in Pittsburgh,

Pennsylvania (n=11). An interview guide was used that asked about PrEP barriers and ways to

mitigate these barriers. Interview recordings were transcribed and analyzed for key themes using

ATLAS.ti software.

RESULTS: The original list of 39 codes was condensed into five key themes. The five key themes

are that PrEP is empowering; PrEP barriers are multidimensional and overlapping; episodic PrEP

is viewed favorably; PrEP needs, access, and perceptions differ by race and age; and risk

iv

compensation is real, but it should not be used to prohibit PrEP uptake. A list of all PrEP barriers identified in the interviews is presented.

PUBLIC HEALTH SIGNIFICANCE: For public health practice, participants in these interviews identified stigma as more significant of a barrier to PrEP uptake for MSM than its discussion in the existing literature would suggest. PrEP enhancement efforts should simultaneously target multiple barriers across constructs for maximum effectiveness, avoid shaming overtones, and be inclusive of black MSM. A table is presented that may serve as a map to intervention design. Research is needed to test the association of PrEP use and STI incidence in US-based samples, to fine-tune local PrEP uptake efforts in other regions, and to monitor unintended consequences of PrEP uptake in the near or distant future.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1.0 | | INTRODUCTION1 |
|-----|-----|--|
| 2.0 | | BACKGROUND4 |
| | 2.1 | OVERVIEW OF HIV PREVENTION EFFORTS 4 |
| | 2.2 | WHAT IS PREP? 4 |
| | 2.3 | EFFICACY OF PREP FOR THE PREVENTION OF HIV INFECTION 5 |
| | 2.4 | IMPLICATIONS OF PREP TO COMBINATION PREVENTION 6 |
| | 2.5 | CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORKS 6 |
| | | 2.5.1 HEALTH BELIEF MODEL |
| | | 2.5.2 SOCIAL ECOLOGICAL PERSPECTIVE 8 |
| | | 2.5.3 THEORY OF SYNDEMIC PRODUCTION9 |
| | | 2.5.4 TRANSTHEORETICAL MODEL |
| | | 2.5.5 THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOR 11 |
| | 2.6 | EXISTING BARRIERS AND FACILITATORS TO PREP UPTAKE 11 |
| | 2.7 | HIV IN PITTSBURGH, PENNSYLVANIA13 |
| 3.0 | | METHODS |
| | 3.1 | PARTICIPANT RECRUITMENT AND SAMPLING FRAME 15 |
| | 3.2 | INTERVIEW GUIDE DEVELOPMENT 16 |
| | 3.3 | DATA COLLECTION16 |
| | 3.4 | ANALYSIS |
| 4.0 | | RESULTS |
| | 4.1 | PREP IS EMPOWERING20 |

| | 4.2 | F | PREP BARRIERS ARE MULTIDIMENSIONAL AND OVERLAPP | |
|-----|------|--------|---|---------|
| | | 4.2.1 | ACCESS-RELATED BARRIERS | 22 |
| | | 4.2.2 | STIGMA-RELATED BARRIERS | 24 |
| | | 4.2.3 | KNOWLEDGE/ATTITUDE-RELATED BARRIERS | 26 |
| | 4.3 | H | EPISODIC PREP IS VIEWED FAVORABLY | 28 |
| | 4.4 | F | PREP NEEDS, ACCESS AND PERCEPTIONS DIFFER BY RA | ACE AND |
| | AG | E AMC | ONG MSM | 29 |
| | 4.5 | F | RISK COMPENSATION IS REAL, BUT IT SHOULD NOT BE | USED TO |
| | PRO | OHIBI | Γ PREP UPTAKE | 30 |
| 5.0 | | DISC | USSION | 31 |
| | 5.1 | τ | USING THESE FINDINGS FOR INTERVENTION DESIGN | 35 |
| 6.0 | | CONC | CLUSION | 37 |
| | 6.1 | S | SUMMARY | 38 |
| | 6.2 | I | LIMITATIONS | 38 |
| | 6.3 | F | PUBLIC HEALTH SIGNIFICANCE | 39 |
| API | PENI | OIX A: | RECRUITMENT EMAIL | 41 |
| API | PENI | OIX B: | INTERVIEW GUIDE | 42 |
| BIB | LIO | GRAPI | IY | 44 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1. Participant Job Roles. | 17 |
|---|----|
| Table 2. Key Themes from the Interviews | 19 |
| Table 3. List of Barriers to PrEP Uptake Identified in the Interviews | 22 |

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The pandemic of HIV/AIDS persists around the world despite decades of prevention efforts from multifaceted local, regional, national, and international organizations. In the US, men who have sex with men (MSM) have been disproportionately burdened by the virus since the very beginning of the epidemic. While MSM comprise about 2% of the US population (1), they comprise 54% of people living with HIV/AIDS (2). Each year, 60-65% of total new infections are concentrated among MSM (2), and this number is higher among MSM in some regions of the country.

Many interventions to diminish this disparity have taken a behavioral approach. Assessments of behavioral approaches to prevention intervention design illustrate the need for multifaceted approaches in the fight against HIV. Interventions to reduce HIV transmission among MSM have almost exclusively focused on outcomes such as risk behavior by modifying social factors at individual, group, and community levels (1-3). A meta-analytic review of 58 sociobehavioral interventions concluded these approaches average a 27% reduction in risk behavior (2), and another concluded a 27% to 43% decrease in odds of risk behavior (3). The behavior change associated with behavioral interventions is often insufficient to decrease HIV incidence more than 12 months post-intervention (4). While many of these interventions demonstrated efficacy, these findings evoke the need for additional prevention approaches.

Socio-behavioral approaches may exacerbate the disparity in HIV infection by race/ethnicity among MSM. Socio-behavioral interventions are those that aim to reduce risk for

HIV transmission by measuring behavioral outcomes (e.g., condom use, condom negotiation, and number of sexual partners). The National HIV/AIDS Strategy calls for proportionally allocating resources based on epidemiologic need (5), and the heightened concentration of HIV incidence among Black MSM in the US is well documented. For example, Purcell et al. (6) conducted a meta-analytic review of seven nationally representative surveys in 2012 and estimated that HIV incidence among Black MSM was 6.0 times higher than White MSM, and 2.7 times higher among Latino MSM than White MSM. Furthermore, Millett et al. (7) concluded that Black MSM have three times the odds of testing HIV-positive compared with other MSM. One review of rigorously evaluated socio-behavioral interventions concluded that these interventions are more effective among White MSM than Black MSM (2). Findings that Black MSM do not have significantly different individual sexual behavior from other MSM (8) have forced others to conclude that we need to move beyond focusing on individual sexual behavior among Black MSM (9, 10).

A burgeoning body of evidence supports the augmentation of the socio-behavioral model with combination prevention approaches. Combination approaches incorporate behavioral, biomedical, and structural approaches (11) and target outcomes such as HIV testing and antiretroviral treatment for HIV-positive individuals (treatment as prevention, or TasP) (4). HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis, or PrEP, is a relatively new biomedical prevention method that is used in combination with condoms. PrEP is a prescription medication that an HIV-negative individual at increased risk of HIV infection takes daily to prevent infection (12). When used consistently and together with condoms, it has greatly reduced the risk of HIV transmission among diverse populations in several large-scale clinical trials (13-16). It is described in further detail in the next section. The White House's National HIV/AIDS Strategy 2020, and HIV/AIDS campaigns in New

York state, San Francisco, Washington state, and Pittsburgh have identified expanding PrEP access as a key component to ending the HIV/AIDS epidemic (5, 17-19).

Many people who could benefit from PrEP are not connected to it. Gilead Sciences, Inc., the company that produces the only currently FDA-approved medication, reviewed records from about half of United States pharmacies that dispensed PrEP between January 1, 2012, and March 31, 2014 (20). It found that just over 3,200 people had started the PrEP regimen during that period (20). Meanwhile, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimate that 500,000 Americans could benefit from PrEP, including one in four MSM (20, 21). Other researchers have identified reasons for low uptake such as the drug's high cost (22-26), stigma in the community (22, 27-29), and lack of awareness among providers and patients about the medication's potential for preventing HIV (29-37).

This thesis explored barriers and facilitators to PrEP uptake by interviewing employees of HIV-prevention organizations who work with the MSM community in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. This project aimed to gather data regarding barriers and facilitators of PrEP uptake, which may be used to inform public health practitioners, researchers, advocates, and policy-makers to better understand how MSM can be connected to PrEP more effectively. First, background information about HIV prevention efforts, about PrEP itself, and conceptual frameworks relevant to the research purpose are presented. Then, a description of the study's methods are described in detail, followed by a presentation of interview results. After that, the results are discussed and consolidated with conceptual frameworks to present implications of these findings for future public health research and practice.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 OVERVIEW OF HIV PREVENTION EFFORTS

This section begins by setting the context for HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis, or PrEP, by presenting a brief overview of HIV prevention efforts in the US. Condom use is the first known HIV prevention method, with the first publications to advocate for condom use to protect against HIV infection being traced to San Francisco in 1982 (38). By the mid-1980s, hundreds of community organizations had formed to care for individuals dying of AIDS and to advocate for more action from politicians, scientists, and doctors (38). In 1987 the World Health Organization established the Special Programme on AIDS (later the Global Programme on AIDS), which widely promoted condom promotion, sex education in schools, simplified treatment of other STIs, syringe exchange programs, and efforts to improve safety of the blood supply (38). Today, other prevention methods include reductions in sexual or needle-sharing partners, male circumcision, and treatment with antiretroviral medications (or PrEP) (11). The future of HIV prevention "must draw from the successes of existing evidence-based interventions and the expertise of the market sector to integrate preventive innovations and behaviors into everyday routines" (11).

2.2 WHAT IS PREP?

Pre-exposure prophylaxis, or PrEP, is the use of an antiretroviral medication to prevent HIV infection in HIV-negative individuals. PrEP must be prescribed by a medical provider. Currently,

the only medication that is FDA-approved for use as PrEP is Truvada®. It is a single tablet that contains emtricitabine and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (FTC-TDF) (13). If an HIV-negative individual is exposed to HIV but has sufficient levels of FTC-TDF in the bloodstream, genital tract, and rectum, the virus is prevented from entering cells and replicating, and the individual remains uninfected (13). It must be taken every day for maximum protection (13), and intracellular levels of FTC-TDF in rectal tissue and blood that are sufficient for protection occur after seven daily doses (39). In vaginal and cervical tissue, this may take up to three weeks (39). Some have called for alternatives to the daily regimen, known as episodic PrEP, because of observations that protection is only necessary during high risk episodes (40).

2.3 EFFICACY OF PREP FOR THE PREVENTION OF HIV INFECTION

Clinical trials have found that PrEP is highly efficacious among people who adhere to its treatment regimen. The iPrEx trial (13) enrolled 1,251 MSM in its PrEP treatment arm, and those who took the drug every day reduced risk of HIV infection by 99% (adherence was confirmed via blood analysis). Those who took it four days per week had a 96% reduction in risk (13). However, eight weeks into the trial, 45% of treatment arm participants had no detectable FTC-TDF in blood analysis (41). This indicates that adherence was a sizable issue.

A less demanding PrEP treatment regimen has demonstrated efficacy for preventing HIV infection, known as episodic PrEP. The IPERGAY trial (40) prescribed episodic PrEP, also known as event-driven or on-demand PrEP, to HIV-negative MSM who reported unprotected anal sex (n=199), and they found an 86% relative reduction in HIV infection compared to placebo control (n=201). The trial's participants were instructed to take two tablets of FTC-TDF or placebo two to

24 hours before sex, then another tablet 24 hours later and a fourth tablet 48 hours later (40). Participants used a median of 14 tablets per month (40).

2.4 IMPLICATIONS OF PREP TO COMBINATION PREVENTION

PrEP is an efficacious bio-behavioral intervention that fills a unique niche in HIV prevention (42). It may be a viable prevention method for MSM who do not use condoms. In a recent sample of HIV-negative Black and Latino MSM in three US cities who were recruited through online, agency, and street/venue outreach efforts (n=605), and were not already taking PrEP, Mansergh et al. (43) found that 52% of the men had anal sex without a condom in the prior three months. Respondents who reported recent sexual risk behavior were more likely than those who did not to prefer PrEP compared with condoms (43).

2.5 CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORKS

The methods and analysis in this study were guided by theories and models from the fields of public health, health disparities, and psychology. Applicable frameworks were identified through a review of peer-reviewed literature about interventions that focus on medication use and adherence, behavior change, and HIV risk behavior. Frameworks that have been used to inform discussions of medication use include the Theory of Planned Behavior in hypertensive patients (44), the Health Belief Model in hypertensive patients (45) and HIV-positive patients (46), and the Transtheoretical Model in HIV-positive patients (47, 48). The Theory of Planned Behavior, which

has also been used to study gay affirmative behavior (49), posits social pressures and norms as influences to goal-oriented behavior (50). The Theory of Syndemic Production suggests that social marginalization experienced by MSM may manifest in a fear to access health services (51). Because PrEP uptake relies on an interplay of factors at multiple levels of society, the Social Ecological Model (52) was also examined.

These frameworks are instrumental in identifying strategies to connect high-risk MSM to PrEP more effectively. With contextual information about organizational and community strengths and needs derived from interview sessions, examination of existing frameworks will inform recommendations for actions that can be taken by HIV practitioners, researchers, advocates, and policymakers to mitigate barriers to PrEP uptake among MSM.

2.5.1 HEALTH BELIEF MODEL

The Health Belief Model (HBM) delineates a framework for understanding why an individual engages, or does not engage, in behaviors that are beneficial to his health (53). A researcher using the HBM analyzes the association of a given behavior to perceived susceptibility to and perceived severity of disease, perceived benefits of and perceived barriers to behavior change, cues to action, and self-efficacy (53). Practitioners apply the model's key constructs to develop effective interventions that target health behavior through education about risks, for example (54).

HBM's constructs have previously been applied in the context of HIV-protective behavior such as condom use and HIV testing and counseling. Zhao et al. (55) analyzed data from female sex workers and found that perceived benefits and perceived barriers were proximate predictors of condom use (r=0.23 and r=-0.62, respectively), and that self-efficacy had a direct effect on perceived severity, perceived benefits, and perceived barriers, which was indirectly associated

with condom use (r=0.36). Nöthling and Kagee (56) found that perceived severity of HIV and perceived benefits of and barriers to HIV counseling and testing explained 25.1% of the variances in acceptance of counseling and testing among South African university students. To this author's knowledge, there is currently no research in the peer-reviewed literature that explores HBM constructs among MSM with PrEP uptake as the outcome variable.

2.5.2 SOCIAL ECOLOGICAL PERSPECTIVE

The interplay of personal and environmental factors needs to be considered. The Social Ecological (SE) perspective encourages the examination of factors at five hierarchical levels of individual, interpersonal, community, organizational, and policy (52). Policies that make PrEP accessible, mechanisms that make it known among communities, social norms that make it acceptable, interpersonal interactions with healthcare providers that are productive and with sexual partners who are supportive, and individual factors that support medication adherence all must coalesce. At the individual level, adherence to the PrEP regimen requires a change in behavior, since it requires taking a tablet every day. At the interpersonal level, PrEP enrollment requires a patient who is MSM to disclose sensitive information about gay/bisexual identity and behavior to a healthcare provider. At the community level, social norms may inhibit PrEP uptake and adherence due to stigma (22, 27).

On the organizational and policy levels, accessibility can be increased through organizational and governmental policies that reduce its cost and increase its acceptability. Medicaid plans in some states cover prescription costs for PrEP, and some states have created programs to cover pre-prescription laboratory testing. Additionally, findings from the IPERGAY trial may have implications on the cost of a PrEP prescription. The FDA approved the use of PrEP

with a daily regimen for which the iPrEx trial found strong efficacy (13). However, the IPERGAY trial found efficacy for PrEP with a regimen that prescribes use only during high-risk periods (40). This may be a less costly alternative because fewer tablets are needed; participants in that trial used a median of 14 tablets per month (40). Elsesser et al. (57) found that 74.3% of MSM in a large web-based sample (n=7503) considered a short-term PrEP regimen during high-risk periods to be acceptable, and MSM who engaged in unprotected anal sex while on vacation in the past year were more likely to indicate interest than respondents who did not. Thus, the reasons that the FDA may consider approval of this regimen are twofold: it is less costly and it is easier to adhere to.

2.5.3 THEORY OF SYNDEMIC PRODUCTION

MSM who meet the criteria for PrEP eligibility may be experiencing psychosocial health issues that need to be considered. Stall et al. (58) found that psychosocial health problems including clinical depression, substance abuse, partner violence, and childhood sexual abuse are highly interconnected for MSM living in urban environments and that greater numbers of health problems are positively associated with high-risk sexual behavior. Stall, Friedman, and Catania (51) suggest that while not all MSM experience multiple, or any, of these outcomes, the ones who do may be less likely to seek health services. The Theory of Syndemic Production connects the presence of these health disparities among MSM to experiences of marginalization and stigma associated with gay/bisexual affiliation across the life course (51, 58).

2.5.4 TRANSTHEORETICAL MODEL

The Transtheoretical Model (TTM) proposes five stages of behavior change that individuals experience when changing health behavior (59). Intervention design may be targeted to individuals in a given stage to modify health behavior, with the goal of helping the individual move through the model's stages and lead to sustained behavior change (59). The five stages are precontemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, and maintenance (59). During precontemplation, an individual has no intention to take action, and in contemplation, the individual intends to take action within six months (60). An individual is in the preparation stage when he intends to take action within 30 days and has already taken some steps to do so, and the action stage is when overt behavior change has occurred within six months (60). The final stage, maintenance, signifies that the behavior change has been sustained for at least six months (60).

Ficke and Farris (61) found that from 1995 to 2004, eleven articles in the peer-reviewed literature applied TTM to medication use. Genberg et al. (48) applied TTM to antiretroviral adherence among HIV-positive patients in the New England area. Among the patients in this sample (n=137), those in the action and maintenance stages of change were significantly more likely to adhere to their medication than were the patients in the precontemplation, contemplation, or preparation stages (48). Therefore, the two end stages of the model are ideal; however, an individual most commonly proceeds through the first three to get to that point (60). Public health practitioners who aim to increase PrEP uptake among high-risk MSM might consider including stages of change indicators in needs assessments, goal-setting, intervention design, or outcome evaluations.

2.5.5 THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOR

Originally developed by psychologists to predict goal attainment among college students, the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) considers the associations of attitude, perceived behavioral control, and subjective norms to behavior change intentions and execution (50). Subjective norms in the model are measured by normative beliefs about social pressures. Ho and Lee (44) adapted TPB to study medication adherence in hypertensive patients. They found a positive correlation of attitude, perceived behavioral control, and subjective norms with intent to adhere to medication (r=0.27, p=0.00), and a positive correlation of intent with actual medication adherence (r=0.49, p=0.00) (44). Andrew, Mullan, and de Wit (62) conducted a meta-analysis of peer-reviewed literature that examined the correlates between TPB constructs and condom use among MSM. They found that attitude, subjective norm, and perceived behavioral control significantly correlated positively with condom use intention, which in turn accounted for 12.4% of the variance in condom use behavior (62). Interventions to increase PrEP uptake may consider measuring the intent to use PrEP and targeting attitudes and group-level social pressures about PrEP.

2.6 EXISTING BARRIERS AND FACILITATORS TO PREP UPTAKE

With an understanding of how theory informs approaches to increasing PrEP uptake, a review of barriers to PrEP uptake was conducted in peer-reviewed empirical literature. The three barriers of no access, lack of knowledge, and stigma were identified. Additionally, a scan was conducted of existing practices at the organizational or policy level that may mitigate these barriers. These strengths and needs were considered in construction of the interview guide used in this research.

Low access to PrEP is a significant barrier for many who would benefit most, with cost and connections to providers who will prescribe being important factors (22-26). The White House's National HIV/AIDS Strategy documents the correlation between high poverty rates and high risk of HIV infection (5). Truvada's manufacturer, Gilead Sciences, Inc., provides assistance for uninsured populations and co-pays for those who are insured (enrollment forms available at https://start.truvada.com/paying-for-truvada). The Partnership for Prescription Assistance program helps uninsured populations access prescription medications at low to no cost (https://www.pparx.org). Medicaid coverage leverages public assistance for uninsured populations to access a PrEP prescription. For people who are insured, the Patient Access Network Foundation will cover co-pays for any prescription medication, and for PrEP, grants may be up to \$7,500 per year (http://panfoundation.org/hiv-treatment-and-prevention). None of these options cover provider visits and laboratory testing that are required for a PrEP prescription, but some states have created additional programs to cover these costs.

Low knowledge of PrEP in both the medical community and MSM communities may also be a barrier. The CDC (21) reported that one in three primary care providers in the US has not heard of PrEP. Among MSM, the numbers may be even lower. Less than 20% of MSM in a sample from Pittsburgh have heard of PrEP (63). However, more recent evidence elsewhere may indicate this is changing. Hood et al. (64) found that 86% of HIV-negative men who reported high-risk sexual behavior in a survey at the 2015 Seattle Gay Pride Parade (n=2168) were aware of PrEP, up from 13% in 2012. The New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene (DOHMH) is executing a PrEP education campaign with dual provider and community arms. While this initiative has yet to be evaluated, the campaign is similar to a DOHMH condom campaign from 2007 to 2008 that was considered to be highly effective (65).

Stigma related to PrEP as an HIV-prevention treatment for high-risk populations has also been identified as a barrier. Knight et al. (27) conducted 50 interviews with young men in Vancouver and some of the gay men in the sample expressed views that given its eligibility criteria, PrEP enrollment serves as a signal for one's stigmatized status as sexually promiscuous. Mack et al. (29) identified community-level stigma to be the most significant barrier to PrEP enrollment for MSM, through 20 interviews with HIV prevention experts in Kenya. Community-level stigma may be exacerbated due to conflicting views within the HIV prevention community itself. Some have denounced PrEP due to the perception that rates of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) will increase due to risk compensation (22). However, in a sample of 544 HIV-negative MSM in 13 sexual health clinics in England, McCormack et al. (28) detected no difference in STI incidence between treatment and control.

2.7 HIV IN PITTSBURGH, PENNSYLVANIA

The American Community Survey (66) estimated that the population in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, is 306,045, with a density of 5,521 people per square mile. Pittsburgh is the largest population center of Allegheny County, which has a population of 1,229,172 people and population density of 1,676 people per square mile (66).

The HIV epidemic in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, has remained consistent over the past 12 years (67). Neither the prevalence nor incidence of HIV in the general population has shown a noticeable decline since 2004, and men are disproportionately impacted by the virus (68). In 2013, the most recent year for which county data are reported, the incidence of HIV was 20 per 100,000 males and 3.6 per 100,000 females (68). There were 1,948 total known cases as of the end

of that year, and 1,584 (81.3%) of those individuals were male (68). As is the case nationwide (69), sex with men continues to be the largest driver of HIV transmission among men in Allegheny County, accounting for 87% of transmission among men (68). Nationwide, 60-65% of new yearly HIV infections were among MSM in recent years (69), but in Allegheny County this proportion was 86% in 2013 (68).

3.0 METHODS

3.1 PARTICIPANT RECRUITMENT AND SAMPLING FRAME

This paper presents data collected through interviews conducted with experts who work with HIV/AIDS issues and MSM populations in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Pittsburgh was chosen because its yearly HIV incidence has not significantly decreased over the last decade (9), MSM in Pittsburgh have low knowledge and uptake of PrEP compared to other cities (10), and Pittsburgh is a mid-sized city that is a hub of HIV/AIDS research and practice. Purposive sampling was employed to achieve a sample with maximum variation. Maximum variation is desirable in qualitative research when expertise is sought from different people with different backgrounds who work in different settings (70, 71).

An environmental scan of organizations in Pittsburgh that work in HIV prevention was conducted to compose a recruitment list. The scan identified 11 organizations including clinics, academia, nonprofits, a local health department, and one foundation. Leaders from each organization were contacted via email to be interviewed. See Appendix A for the recruitment email that was used. In some cases, the initial contact agreed to interview, and in others, he or she referred to one of his or her co-workers. During one interview session, a participant recommended three individuals who were later contacted and interviewed. In total, 18 individuals from 10 organizations were contacted, and this yielded a final sample of 11 participants from seven organizations across nine interview sessions.

3.2 INTERVIEW GUIDE DEVELOPMENT

An open-ended interview guide was developed prior to interview facilitation. The guide was designed to inspire discussion with participants without dictating content. The interview questions were about the participant's organization and the community with which he or she works, not about the participant individually. The guide was modified before each interview to reflect differences in the participant's organization. Questions were categorized by organizational characteristics, barriers to PrEP uptake (stigma, knowledge, cost), and inter- and intra- organizational strengths. If needed, the structure was modified *ad hoc* during each interview session depending on the natural flow of conversation.

The interview guide was reviewed by advisors in the University of Pittsburgh Center for LGBT Health Research before implementation to ensure coherence and comprehensiveness. The interview guide appears in Appendix B. Upon consultation with the University of Pittsburgh Institutional Review Board (IRB), it was determined that this study did not constitute Human Subjects Research, and therefore the study protocol did not require IRB submission or approval.

3.3 DATA COLLECTION

Nine semi-structured interviews were conducted by this author during February-March 2016 with 11 participants in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Eight of the interviews were with a single participant, and one interview included three participants at once. Most interviews occurred at the participants' workplaces, and one interview took place at the University of Pittsburgh, Graduate School of Public Health. Each interview took place in a quiet location to ensure clarity for the audio

recording. The highest degrees held by participants are MPH (n=3), MSW (n=3), MD (n=2), MSN (n=1), MBA (n=1), Certified Registered Nurse Practitioner (n=1), BA (n=1), and a high school diploma (n=1) (some participants have more than one degree). See Table 1 for the participants' job roles. The audio recordings were transcribed clean verbatim by a professional transcription service, and transcripts were checked for accuracy by this author with the corresponding audio recordings. Interviews were between 30 to 65 minutes in length. Notes were made immediately following each interview session to summarize important points and record any data that might have not been captured in the audio recording (for example, information from tours of the physical space before or after the interview session).

Table 1. Participant Job Roles.

| Participant | Role | |
|-------------|--------------------------|--|
| P1 | Academic researcher; PCP | |
| P2 | Program Director | |
| Р3 | Research Specialist | |
| P4 | Program Specialist | |
| P5 | Project Manager | |
| P6 | Program Director | |
| P7 | Program Specialist | |
| P8 | Program Specialist | |
| P9 | Program Director; PCP | |
| P10 | Program Director | |
| P11 | Public Health Official | |

3.4 ANALYSIS

Content analysis as described by Patton (70) was performed on interview transcripts. Common themes were coded and illustrative quotes were identified. Thirty nine primary codes were identified in an initial open coding process on the first six interview transcripts (eight participants total), and these were condensed into five key themes. Data management and analysis were assisted by the use of ATLAS.ti software.

4.0 RESULTS

The open coding process yielded 39 codes, and five key themes emerged from these. See Table 2 for a summary of results. The results and illustrative quotes from this table are expanded upon in the proceeding section.

Table 2. Key Themes from the Interviews.

| Key Themes | Illustrative Quotes | | |
|---|---|--|--|
| PrEP is empowering. | I've heard a lot of really, really positive talk around, "Wow, you're on PrEP. You're doing the things you need to do to take care of yourself and other people." | | |
| PrEP barriers are multidimensional and overlapping. | How do you pay for [PrEP]? Do you have culturally competent services? Do you have bus access to get there? Do you trust the pharmaceutical company in the first place that they're not going to be messing with you and have side effects down the line? So a lot of that I think factor[s] in. | | |
| Episodic PrEP is viewed favorably. | If you're at a risky time in your life you can take PrEP for six months and stop taking PrEP It's not something that you have to take for the rest of your life It's not forever. | | |
| PrEP needs, access and perceptions differ by race and age among MSM. | The "Truvada Whore" conversation is more for middle-age, work-force men. I think that younger people are not calling each other "Truvada Whores." I think that especially in the African-American community, the chances [of HIV infection] are really high. So it's not as much of a joke. | | |
| Risk compensation is real, but it should not be used to prohibit PrEP uptake. | We saw [STI] increases go up way before PrEP. I don't believe that PrEP actually was part of it. I think it could potentially contribute to that, but I don't think it was the initial spark for driving it here in the first place. | | |

4.1 PREP IS EMPOWERING.

Participants noted that PrEP empowers MSM in various ways. PrEP was described as empowering because many MSM take PrEP to feel like they are taking care of themselves and/or taking care of sexual partners; it is an opportunity for MSM to advocate for their own health to their providers; and it mitigates fear associated with sex that many MSM have experienced since the onset of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. The view emerged of PrEP as a harm reduction approach that contrasts "paternalistic" (Participant 1) approaches to care (to be discussed in a later section).

Several participants explicitly discussed PrEP as a method for individuals to take care of themselves or others. Participant 7 (P7) said that her clients, who are predominantly young Black MSM and Black trans women, have "really positive talk around, 'Wow, you're on PrEP. You're taking care of yourself.'" Additionally, given that PrEP enrollment requires a patient to visit a medical setting for testing every three months, P1 pointed out that it keeps individuals engaged in healthcare. P1, a physician who cares for MSM in a PrEP-prescribing medical clinic, said that for this reason many STIs are caught early and treated. P1 also discussed the theme of empowerment in the context of serodiscordant relationships and PrEP:

I think the reason why a negative partner might consider going on PrEP is that this is something that he or she can do to protect himself or herself, as opposed to depending on somebody else to maintain undetectable viral load, because we know that while communication should be ideal and should be open ended - things happen. This is something someone can do for himself or herself if he's in a serodiscordant relationship, to protect (P1).

Other participants offered an empowerment view from a structural standpoint:

You can't control what people do. I'm a big proponent of harm reduction. I think you have to give people the tools to make informed decisions and keep themselves safe. At the end of the day, it's up to them. And I think there's that, when you're talking about public health, there's the individual decision-making and risk factors, but I think where we as public health people, as community collaboratives, as healthcare systems, we need to be focusing on environmental change, making the

environment in which individuals live more conducive to healthy decision-making (P5).

The view of PrEP as a harm reduction approach to HIV prevention emerged in the interviews. While this view is not unique to this sample, several participants expressed positive views about PrEP because it allows them to "meet the client where they are" (P4). On the harm reduction perspective and PrEP, P11 said:

PrEP is really, in my mind, a harm reduction approach. In the sense that as a healthcare provider, or someone who works with people who are sick or need to have some change in their life, telling people that they should change is really ineffective. I've never had anybody who stopped using drugs or having unprotected sex because I told them it was a good idea, it always takes more than that. It's more of a process and our job as healthcare providers is to keep the people as healthy as we can until they get to the place where they want to be (P11).

Several other participants described how PrEP is empowering because it may equip their clients and patients with the language to advocate for themselves in a healthcare setting. One participant who is a counselor described how PrEP has enhanced his provider-client relationship and his clients' own health literacy:

I don't mind going and maybe advocating for that person. Or, I would ask them like, "Well, what type of information are you looking from your doctor?" I may be able to provide that information [to] them, or I may be able to develop strong questions so that they can go back to their provider that they're used to and ask those questions and advocate for PrEP on their own (P8).

Several participants discussed how PrEP mitigates the fear that many MSM felt during "the early cases of HIV in like 1980" (P9), which was described as an empowering feeling. As one participant said:

So I think people have lived under this cloud of fear around their sex and their sexuality for a long time, and to be able to lift that a little bit for people I think is not what PrEP was intended to do, but if it makes people feel better and safer about having sex then I think that's good prevention and it's just good healthcare (P9).

4.2 PREP BARRIERS ARE MULTIDIMENSIONAL AND OVERLAPPING.

Participants identified various types of barriers to PrEP uptake for MSM. The identified barriers are multidimensional because they can be organized into constructs, and they are overlapping because some barriers may feasibly be categorized into more than one construct. All identified barriers are listed in Table 3, and they are expanded upon below. This list is intended to be extensive but not exhaustive. All of the barriers identified by participants in this sample were placed into three constructs of Access, Stigma, and Knowledge/Attitudes.

Table 3. List of Barriers to PrEP Uptake Identified in the Interviews.

| Access | Stigma | Knowledge/Attitudes |
|---|--|---|
| High cost Lack of insurance Co-pays above Gilead assistance allotment Lack of connections to PrEP-prescribing providers Insufficient capacity among organizations | Image of the "Truvada Whore" Image of PrEP as a "party drug" (i.e., assumptions about risk compensation) Discussions about sex and sexuality are often difficult Internalized homophobia and self-shame | Fear of side effects Lack of awareness in community members and medical providers about what PrEP is and how to get it Inaccurate self-assessment of HIV risk by community members Fatalistic attitudes Distrust of medicine/big pharma |

4.2.1 ACCESS-RELATED BARRIERS

Access to PrEP was a primary barrier to uptake that was identified in the interviews. These barriers included PrEP's high cost, insurance issues, and lack of connections to PrEP-prescribing providers. As P5 noted, just because PrEP is legal and FDA-approved, the reality for MSM "on the ground"

is more complicated. To elaborate, P5 offered specific examples of access-related barriers that were also echoed by others in the sample:

How do you pay for it? Do you have culturally competent services? Do you have bus access to get there? Do you trust the pharmaceutical company in the first place that they're not going to be messing with you and have side effects down the line? So a lot of that I think factor in terms of justice [sic] (P5).

P5's examples are not an exhaustive list of access-related barriers, but cost and access to a provider/clinic were the two access-related barriers most often discussed by the sample. Participants said that many people do not have a regular provider or they do not feel like they can talk about PrEP with their provider, which may be due to lack of ability to self-advocate in the healthcare setting and/or fear of discrimination. On the provider side, P1 noted that PCPs may not feel comfortable bringing up the topic or that they do not have enough time during appointments, because "sex is not a three-minute conversation." Organizational barriers were described as capacity issues in accommodating PrEP's clinical guidelines, including but not limited to comprehensive blood testing pre-prescription and every three months thereafter, and "red tape" (P10) that is associated with having a provider who can prescribe PrEP on-site.

Insurance issues came up in several of the interviews. Many participants discussed payment assistance plans for uninsured and underinsured populations, and it was discussed that some plans have paperwork that may be difficult for the layperson to navigate. For example, Gilead's payment assistance plan was identified by P8 as being easier to enroll in than dealing with Medicaid. Additionally, participants noted that they see cost-prohibitive issues commonly among people who are on basic insurance. As noted by P3:

I think it's interesting that it's easier to be on PrEP if you're uninsured than it is if you are insured. Unless you have good insurance that covers the majority of your out-of-pocket costs, it's still pretty tough to obtain PrEP. The copay assistance I think only pays about thirty six hundred a year, which is three hundred a month. And so if your co-pay is more than that, then you're out of luck (P3).

Furthermore, P3 noted that many of his clients who are under 26 and on their parents' health insurance plan are concerned that their parents will know if they enroll in PrEP.

4.2.2 STIGMA-RELATED BARRIERS

Stigma-related barriers emerged in several forms during the interviews. Stigma against PrEP itself, status as MSM or gay/bisexual, and sex in general were identified during the interviews. Some barriers were on the individual level and some were on the community level.

A prominent stigma-related barrier that was discussed was the perception of PrEP as a "party drug." This term always carried a negative connotation in the interviews, and it was used differently among the participants. On an individual level, P9 noted that asking about PrEP may be seen as a signal for being sexually promiscuous, and that some MSM fear that label. P9 discussed how some MSM may hesitate asking a PCP in the privacy of a medical visit out of fear of judgment from the provider. However, P8 noted that he did not notice this fear among his clients, who are predominantly young Black MSM and Black transwomen: "From what I gathered we don't have the whole stigma around, like if you are on PrEP that you're going to go sleep with everyone and everything."

Additionally, the "party drug" stigma had a community-level dimension. Some MSM may forego a PrEP prescription due to the vocalization of "anti-PrEP" views among their peers. One example of "anti-PrEP" views was described by participants as the fear that PrEP is going to cause "this feeding frenzy of crazy, condomless sex" (P1), and in turn increase other STIs and drug-resistant HIV. Notably, P1 pointed out that among his patients who are having unprotected sex while on PrEP, most of them were not avidly using condoms before going on PrEP, and also, that

increases in STI rates nationwide began before PrEP was approved by the FDA. P11 speculated on other causes of upticks in STI incidence:

The normalization of anonymous and multiple sex partners that I think is rampant right now through social media [sic]. The Tindr's and Grindr's and all the other online hookup apps I think are having a quite an impact on STD risk-taking behavior. The idea that you can GPS a sexual partner just like you can GPS a taxi (P11).

Additionally, a second "anti-PrEP" view discussed by a participant was the fear among HIV-positive MSM that insurance premiums will increase for HIV medications. However, the participant went on to say this about these "anti-PrEP" views:

I could analyze it as being weird like jealousy of why wasn't this around - why didn't people think about this before we contracted the virus? (P2).

Stigma about sex in general was also cited by participants. P10 explained that some MSM are apprehensive about going on PrEP because "there is that stigma of sex-shaming" (P10), and PrEP requires frank conversations about sex. He later expanded on his point:

[They] may be embarrassed to ask about it, because they've heard that only sluts take it, or they don't ask about it because - talking about sex in general, we're a very Puritanical society when it comes to that, which is so weird when our movies and TV - we have a very wonderfully slutty pop culture. It's really built around sex, drugs, and rock 'n roll. But you sit down at the dinner table and all of a sudden we are like the Puritans. You don't want to talk about sex. Nobody wants to talk about it because it's embarrassing (P10).

Fear of discrimination from a provider was cited as a stigma-related barrier by P3, who pointed out that asking about PrEP requires a discussion about sexual behavior, and not all MSM want to "out themselves" to their PCP. Input from a health department official (P11) may mitigate this barrier, particularly on his views about how the local health department fills a demand for sexual health services that are anonymous and neutral:

I see the health department not only as a traditional care provider, but also because of it's kind of neutrality and anonymity in a way [sic], I think we are - I know we do provide a service to not only the broad community, but for those who again, fall

through the cracks. Who don't feel comfortable going to your traditional care model, they don't want to go to the Ivory Towers and ride the elevator up past inpatient units and be part of this whole big medical infrastructure. They like the idea of this relatively neutral kind of confidential site (P11).

4.2.3 KNOWLEDGE/ATTITUDE-RELATED BARRIERS

Knowledge- and attitude-related barriers included the lack of awareness of what PrEP is and how to get it, inaccurate self-assessment of HIV risk, fear of side effects, "fatalistic attitudes," and medical distrust.

The lack of awareness about PrEP was discussed as a problem among both patients and PCPs. Some participants articulated that many MSM who know what PrEP is do not know where or how to get a prescription, particularly among those who do not have a PCP, do not want to talk about PrEP with their PCP, or see a PCP who does not know about PrEP. Several participants noted that lack of knowledge about PrEP among providers (e.g., treatment regimen, eligibility criteria, billing codes) is an issue:

Knowing where to get PrEP [is an issue], I think a lot of people have had trouble actually finding providers, and so when people call [around the city] they usually get referred to me... [it] is like, "How do I talk to someone about PrEP?" I think this person was trying to get in touch with me and they called my clinic. And we're like, "We can't call you. We can't have the doctor call you because he's never seen you before." So then what do you do? Like, if they have a question about this, that, and the next thing. So people are kind of like stuck in that particular situation (P1).

Participants recognized that even among their patients and clients who know what PrEP is, they may decide to not seek a prescription because they are self-assessing their risk incorrectly:

They think that they're not at risk. And it could be true for some. Not every individual who comes [here] is sexually active... But it's interesting that we have a lot of people who just don't consider themselves at risk for HIV (P7).

Many participants described a fear of side effects and a fear of interaction with alcohol and other drugs as prevalent barriers among the MSM that they work with. Participants said many of

their clients and patients believe that PrEP will come with burdensome side effects, because it is a medication for HIV:

Most question I get [sic], "Is it going to affect my body?" "What are the side effects?" "Does it hurt my lungs?" "Does it hurt my liver?" I think I've heard every organ. "Does it hurt my heart?" So they have these questions because they know that in the past HIV medicines have side effects and they do affect your body long-term (P8).

Many participants agreed that the most at-risk MSM are not being connected to PrEP, and several discussed the prevalence of "fatalistic attitudes" in this context:

[When] thinking about populations that may be vulnerable to a number of structural justice factors - if someone is housing insecure, if they don't have food, if they don't have a safe place to be during the day... those are the things that you need to take care of first and PrEP is probably lower down on the list... so if you're just in survival mode day-by-day, PrEP might not be on the radar... I am hearing a lot about people who have fatalistic attitudes, in terms of, "I'm going to get [HIV] anyway," or if they do become HIV-positive, they're not surprised (P5).

Several participants noted that their patients and clients who are informed about PrEP are usually informed about health-related issues in general, and participants expressed uncertainty about how to reach those who are not:

I think that we have a subpopulation that is informed about PrEP, just as we have a subset of our population who is informed about HIV and regularly gets tested. But the question then becomes what percentage is that subset, and how do we reach everyone else with that same information? (P8).

Distrust of medical and pharmaceutical actors was identified as another barrier related to knowledge/attitudes, for two different subpopulations of MSM. P6 identified that many of her clients have a "larger distrust of the medical system," who are predominantly young Black MSM and Black transwomen. P4, who works primarily with injection drug users of all races, pointed out that many of her patients avoid medical settings in general, because they do not want to undergo blood testing that may show traces of illicit substances and be recorded on their medical records.

4.3 EPISODIC PREP IS VIEWED FAVORABLY.

Participants supported episodic PrEP and said that the communities that they work with view it favorably. It was often described in the context of harm reduction. However, many noted that episodic PrEP is not well known among their clients or patients, with P2 saying "that message has not been delivered very well to people in the community" and that many MSM only know of PrEP as a pill that you have to take every day. Participants who see patients or clients said that they speak with their patients about using PrEP during high risk periods of their lives. P8 said that he often emphasizes that it is not a lifetime commitment in client conversations:

If you're at a risky time in your life, if you're participating in sex work or if you're at a point where you're in college and you're not in a relationship and you are having lots of sex, you can take PrEP for six months and stop taking PrEP, and then get back on PrEP if you need to... It's not something that you have to take for the rest of your life. And that's what I've been telling people... People know you have to take HIV meds for the rest of your life. So they're thinking, "Oh PrEP, that's one pill a day forever." No, it's not forever. You can utilize it during a high risk stage of your life (P8).

P1 said that he has made short-term PrEP prescriptions for about a quarter of his patients. In addition to the reasons stated by P8, P1 added that his patients who seek PrEP because they are in serodiscordant relationships typically stop taking PrEP when those relationships end. It should be noted that this list of reasons for taking episodic PrEP is not intended to be exhaustive, and there may be other reasons that were not identified by participants.

4.4 PREP NEEDS, ACCESS AND PERCEPTIONS DIFFER BY RACE AND AGE AMONG MSM.

While participants identified unique characteristics of several subpopulations of MSM, differences by age and race were consistently discussed across the interviews. Specific characteristics about needs, access, and perceptions of PrEP were discussed in particular.

Several participants articulated that focusing efforts on Black MSM and transwomen is important because of their simultaneous higher risk for HIV infection and less engagement with medical care. P9 made a point that expands on this:

I think if you're black, there are barriers to accessing healthcare, period. If you're a black gay man, the places you can go and be treated with respect are limited. You're less likely, just demographically, to have insurance or good insurance. If you're not out publicly and feel comfortable and empowered around your sexuality, the likelihood that you're going to say, "I'm going to get PrEP," is probably pretty low. Again, I think there's a stigma that sometimes in the African American community can be stronger around religious prohibition about that kind of stuff (P9).

P8 described unique attitudes about PrEP among his clients, who are primarily young Black MSM and see PrEP as "needed for survival" because of the disparity of HIV by race among MSM. He expanded on his point that the stigma of PrEP as a "party drug" is unique to "middle-aged, work-force men" (see table 2) and said:

I think that especially in the African-American community, the chances [of HIV infection] are really high. Like, even if I have sex for the first time, or if I've only ever had five sexual partners, nine times out of ten I've come across someone who was positive... For a young, black MSM it's not [a joke] (P8).

Additionally, several participants articulated the importance that health communications about PrEP are inclusive of racial minorities. As P2 said, materials that are not inclusive are "automatically going to turn people off."

4.5 RISK COMPENSATION IS REAL, BUT IT SHOULD NOT BE USED TO PROHIBIT PREP UPTAKE.

Several participants spoke about risk compensation, and the two medical providers of the sample spoke specifically about risk compensation among their patients who are on PrEP. When speaking about the stigma of PrEP as a "party drug," P1 said:

I don't know that it's going to cause this feeding frenzy of crazy, condomless sex. The reality is, people have lots of condomless sex right now, anyway. I suppose, if you could somehow prove that PrEP was going to take all the people who are using condoms right now, and change their thoughts, then yeah, that would probably constitute risk compensation (P1).

Thus, P1 indicated that many MSM who are on PrEP and not always using condoms were very likely not using condoms before going on PrEP, either. He called it "*paternalistic*" to tell someone to not go on PrEP because of possible behaviors that he may or may not take:

I certainly think that as doctors or medical providers, we don't get to make that decision. This seems very paternalistic to say, "No, you can't have something that can potentially safe your life, because you might have more sex." (P1).

With that being said, he said that risk compensation does happen:

[Risk compensation] is real, it's a question of how real will it be? I sometimes like to ask people, "So, do you feel like, since starting PrEP, you use [condoms] less frequently, or had more condomless sex, or more partners?" A good number of people say, "Well, yeah. I don't need to use condoms anymore" (P1).

However, risk compensation's effects may be mitigated by PrEP's clinical guidelines, which call for comprehensive blood testing every three months, including STI testing:

If you are engaging them in care and are able to screen them for STIs frequently, then you're actually doing a really good thing in terms of at least treating their STIs before they go out and spread it to the entire world (P1).

P7 echoed this sentiment in stating:

PrEP clinics absolutely have to have a very strong role and acknowledgment as STI clinics as well (P7).

5.0 DISCUSSION

These discussions aimed to uncover and make explicit barriers to PrEP uptake and ways to mitigate these barriers, and in the process some specific attitudes about PrEP emerged. The barriers presented in this paper are intended to be extensive but not exhaustive. Table 3 lists all of the barriers that emerged in the interviews, and this table may serve as a guide to intervention design. These barriers are expanded upon below and are presented from a Social Ecological perspective. The importance of any single barrier or construct over another is not assessed, however, some of the barriers and constructs had more salience among interview participants.

The word "stigma" triggered conversation that extended beyond PrEP itself to include attitudes about sex and MSM identity more generally. Given that the eligibility criteria for PrEP requires an individual to divulge sensitive information about sexual behavior, stigma has formed around PrEP that it is only for "slutty" people or only for people who want to use it as a "party drug." Thinking about stigma invokes application of the Theory of Planned Behavior and examination of attitudes and subjective norms that emerge when talking about PrEP. While the significance of access-related and knowledge-related barriers cannot be overstated, when thinking about public health practice the particular salience of stigma-related barriers among interview participants calls for pause. For example, MSM who do not have access to PrEP because of financial reasons may be assisted by improving payment assistance mechanisms, but MSM who do not want PrEP because they are embarrassed or ashamed require interventions that are less straightforward. How and where does that conversation begin for someone when PrEP is a nonstarter?

We need the normative consensus among MSM to shift from that of a "party drug" that only "sluts" take to something that health-conscious people do to keep themselves and their communities safer. As described by participants in this sample, views of PrEP among the community as a "party drug" imply that PrEP's sole purpose is to enable MSM to have condomless sex with multiple partners because it significantly reduces fear of HIV infection. The term "Truvada whore" emerged in the interviews as a derogatory label ascribed to MSM who use PrEP, a label that pulls from assumptions about sexual promiscuity. A shift in the normative consensus about PrEP represents an empowerment perspective, because it turns PrEP from a signal of sexual promiscuity (which interview participants agreed is stigmatized) to a signal of responsibility and proactive self-care. Building upon attitudes and normative beliefs about PrEP that are positive and empowering may assuage the stigma associated with PrEP uptake and use.

These normative beliefs among MSM may arise from what the literature refers to as "risk compensation." Risk compensation in the context of these interviews and the literature on PrEP describes how individuals may stop or decrease other HIV protective behavior after going on PrEP, compensating one risk for another. HIV protective behavior besides PrEP use may include condom use and number of sexual partners. Informants in this sample said that risk compensation is a reality and important for healthcare providers to talk with their patients about, however, consensus was that the possibility of risk compensation does not warrant prohibiting PrEP among people who need it. Participants pointed out that PrEP is a harm reduction approach, and it may be a viable prevention option for people who are not using condoms in the first place. With that being said, PrEP is FDA-approved as a combination prevention method to be used in conjunction with condoms, and it should not supplant condoms.

Another important point that emerged in the interviews is that the clinical guidelines for PrEP may mitigate the effects of risk compensation. PrEP requires ongoing engagement with healthcare for those who have a prescription. This is especially important in light of findings from research using the Theory of Syndemic Production that find that high-risk MSM may be less likely to engage in health services. To maintain a PrEP prescription an individual must visit their provider for comprehensive blood testing every three months, including STI testing. In the experience of P1, STIs are being detected and treated sooner among his patients who are on PrEP. Thus, as PrEP use increases it is imperative that providers are educated about these guidelines for ongoing PrEP prescriptions.

In viewing PrEP through the lens of harm reduction, PrEP may be seen as an important HIV prevention method that meets people where they are. As P11 said on PrEP and harm reduction, PrEP "keep[s] people as healthy as we can until they get to the place where they want to be." This brings to mind the Transtheoretical Model (TTM) and its stages of health behavior change. As found in the literature and these interviews, MSM who never use condoms during sex may deem PrEP to be an acceptable form of HIV prevention. Thus, interventions to increase HIV protective behavior among this population should assess stages of change indicators for both condom use and PrEP use. For example, an individual may be in the precontemplation stage for condom use but in the preparation stage for PrEP use, or vice versa. Since PrEP needs to be used in conjunction with condoms, it is important for PrEP interventions to include condom use. Interventions may do this by applying the TTM to move individuals through the stages of change for both behaviors as long as they are needed.

The Health Belief Model (HBM) may also inform interventions that aim to increase PrEP uptake. Some barriers related to access and knowledge/attitudes in Table 3 are the cost of PrEP,

fear of side effects, and inaccurate self-assessment of HIV risk among MSM. These are textbook examples of the HBM constructs of perceived barriers to change, perceived costs of a behavior, and perceived susceptibility to illness. If an individual's perceived barriers/costs are high, and/or his perceived susceptibility to HIV is low, the HBM predicts that he will not seek HIV protective behavior. Furthermore, the discussion of "fatalistic attitudes" in these interviews may call for measures of self-efficacy, another construct of the HBM. As P5 indicated, if an individual believes that "[he] is going to get [HIV] anyway" and cannot avoid it, then it may be difficult to engage him in HIV protective behavior in general.

Access-related barriers also need to be addressed in intervention design. Some of these barriers identified in this sample are common in the literature, including cost and insurance issues, but some are not so common. Of particular contribution may be the access-related barrier of insufficient capacity among organizations, because PrEP's clinical guidelines require considerable resources of personnel, time, space, connections to laboratories, equipment, and financial costs associated with these.

Barriers to PrEP described in this sample occur at multiple levels and thus, Social Ecological (SE) perspectives to intervention design are necessary. As discussed in this section, individual decision-making about PrEP use may be influenced at the community level by reframing PrEP as a positive health behavior, and education of the community and providers alike; at the interpersonal level through accurate conversations between providers and patients about actual HIV risk, HIV prevention needs, and the PrEP treatment regimen; and at the individual level by addressing "fatalistic attitudes" about HIV risk. At the structural level, PrEP uptake may be facilitated by continued payment assistance mechanisms, expanding Medicaid coverage

nationally, programs that cover pre-prescription laboratory testing, advocating for FDA-approval of episodic PrEP, and organizational capacity building.

5.1 USING THESE FINDINGS FOR INTERVENTION DESIGN

Healthcare navigators and specifically PrEP navigators who serve to answer community inquiries about PrEP may be particularly helpful. As P1 said, his clinic receives phone calls from the community with questions about PrEP, but due to policy constraints, he cannot answer questions from anyone who has not been seen by the clinic. A PrEP navigator may be employed by a local health department or a prominent local nonprofit and may serve as the go-to community resource for all things PrEP. PrEP navigators should have a strong working knowledge about PrEP's eligibility criteria, the breadth of payment assistance options, and the research literature about PrEP; relationships with local providers who are known for fluency in issues related to PrEP, sexual health, and sexual minorities; and a demonstrated ability to communicate scientific health information to lay audiences effectively.

Health communication campaigns that educate the community and reframe PrEP as positive and empowering may also be helpful. Communications should use multiple channels and include messaging that is informative, nonjudgmental, and inclusive of racial minorities. Key information should include PrEP's eligibility criteria, where to get a prescription, payment assistance options, and resources to learn more. Qualitative research may fine-tune any communications product (e.g., posters, social media posts, videos) to greater resonate with the target audience. Given the disparity of HIV experienced by Black MSM, and the lack of focus on

Black MSM in existing PrEP expansion efforts that was identified in these interviews, messaging that targets this community is particularly needed.

Advocating for the FDA-approval of episodic PrEP may be useful, as well. Episodic PrEP may increase PrEP uptake by decreasing costs and promoting adherence. Costs may be decreased because participants in the treatment arm of the IPERGAY trial took a median of 14 tablets per month (40), half of what is needed for a daily regimen. Furthermore, daily adherence is a sizable issue. Forty-five percent of the participants in the original iPrEx trial, who were instructed to take the pill every day, did not have any traces of the drug in their blood (13). Findings from these interviews are congruent with the claim that episodic PrEP may increase PrEP uptake, because participants agreed that episodic PrEP is viewed favorably among MSM that they work with.

6.0 CONCLUSION

The iPrEx and IPERGAY trials demonstrated PrEP's efficacy among MSM, and subsequent work found evidence of its acceptability among high-risk MSM. However, many MSM who could benefit from PrEP are not connected to it. Expanding PrEP access, along with expanding access to testing services and antiretroviral treatment, is a key tenet to ending the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Barriers to PrEP uptake need to be articulated and examined if we are to identify intervention designs and increase PrEP uptake and use. It is with this in mind that I conducted interviews and consolidated my findings with conceptual frameworks and the extant literature to provide recommendations to bolster PrEP uptake among MSM in the United States. It should be noted that these findings represent barriers to PrEP uptake as identified by interview participants in this sample, and qualitative research in other settings may elicit different or additional findings.

PrEP is gaining momentum among public health officials and HIV prevention professionals nationwide. Large-scale clinical trials have demonstrated its efficacy, and HIV/AIDS campaigns at the federal, state, and local levels have identified expanding PrEP access as integral to ending the epidemic. Practitioners, advocates and policymakers should harness this momentum for fighting the epidemic in innovative ways.

6.1 SUMMARY

This study adds to the discussion about PrEP uptake among MSM. First, an overview is presented that described PrEP's context, its efficacy, and current research findings about barriers and facilitators to PrEP uptake. Then, this study's methods are described in detail, followed by the presentation of primary qualitative data that was gathered during individual and group interview sessions with experts in HIV/AIDS research and practice, from February-March 2016, in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. The discussion that follows consolidated these data with conceptual frameworks to enlighten or guide practitioners, researchers, and policymakers who seek to enhance PrEP uptake among MSM. While determining absolute importance of any barrier over another is not the goal of this paper, the particular salience of stigma-related barriers among participants was not expected, and the implications of this are discussed. Three specific intervention approaches are identified that target multiple barriers to PrEP uptake that emerged in this study.

6.2 LIMITATIONS

One limitation of this study is the sample is relatively small. Interview participants were purposively sampled because of their employment with HIV-related organizations and their openness to working with MSM populations. All participants live and work in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, and their experiences may not be generalizable to areas of vastly different demographics, HIV prevalence, population size, or other important environmental variables. However, this study has several strengths. As a qualitative study it serves an exploratory purpose and generalizability is not necessarily the goal of this research. A group of experts were sampled

who have diverse educational backgrounds, and they represent varying disciplines and roles from multiple levels of organizations across multiple sectors. Study findings and conclusions are further strengthened by the assumption that interview participants have expansive knowledge about the communities that they work with.

6.3 PUBLIC HEALTH SIGNIFICANCE

The complicated stigma that has formed around PrEP use needs to be deconstructed. Views of PrEP that reduce it to a "party drug" minimize its innovative contribution to HIV prevention to the detriment of the community. Its ability to empower individuals to take care of themselves and their sexual partners in a new way should not be overlooked. Quantitative research in US-based samples that tests the relationship of PrEP use and STI incidence may enlighten the controversy associated with PrEP use and risk compensation. Given that PrEP is a relatively new prevention method, continued research is needed to better understand any other unintended consequences of PrEP should they arise in the near or distant future.

Stigma-related barriers were highly salient among interview participants, but public health practitioners who aim to increase PrEP uptake should target multiple barriers across constructs for maximum effectiveness. While stigma emerged as more significant for practice than expected, barriers related to access and knowledge/attitudes must be addressed. In this way, Table 3 may serve as a map to intervention design. Local practitioners should create PrEP enhancement efforts that are informed by a strong knowledge of the needs, attitudes, and knowledge of PrEP within their specific community, and further qualitative research can help with that. In general, PrEP

navigators and health communication campaigns are two approaches that may be particularly effective, and episodic PrEP may simultaneously diminish costs and promote adherence.

APPENDIX A: RECRUITMENT EMAIL

Dear [NAME],

You are invited to participate in a research study that I am conducting. I am a Master of Public Health student in Pitt Public Health's Center for LGBT Health Research and a Master of Public Administration student in Pitt's Graduate School of Public and International Affairs. This study aims to understand barriers to PrEP use among men who have sex with men, with a focus on the Pittsburgh region. I hope to interview local experts in the field as a component of this project.

Would you be willing to meet with me for a 30- to 60-minute interview in the next two to three weeks? Your expertise as [PARTICIPANT JOB TITLE] is valuable because I am exploring how HIV-focused nonprofits and clinics are utilizing (or not utilizing) PrEP. This interview will be about [ORGANIZATION NAME], and the community you work with, not about you individually.

If you choose to participate, please let me know as soon as possible. You can send me the dates and times that you are available, and the place you would prefer to meet. I would like to record the interview, so a quiet location would be ideal. I can travel to your workplace for the interview if that is most convenient. Thank you for your time, and I look forward to hearing from you.

APPENDIX B: INTERVIEW GUIDE

Introduction and consent script:

Thank you for taking the time to sit down with me and talk about your thoughts and experiences with HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis in the work that you do. Your input will be valuable in composing my Masters' thesis and finding ways to better connect MSM in Pittsburgh to PrEP.

While PrEP can be used in several populations, I am interested in MSM for this project. I've decided to focus on Pittsburgh because this is a mid-sized city that is a hub of HIV/AIDS research and practice, and there are a number of experts locally, such as yourself, whose insight may be helpful for other regions too. I am aiming to interview a representative group of organizations that work in HIV to get a "big-picture" view.

My questions today will mostly focus on [PARTICIPANT'S ORGANIZATION NAME] and your role within it. Next, I will ask questions about barriers to PrEP uptake. Lastly, I will ask about how barriers might be mitigated. I've typed up some questions ahead of time, but they will serve as a guide more than a hard script. Some of the questions may seem obvious, but this interview is about your experiences and knowledge, and I do not want to impose mine.

Your participation is voluntary, and you may decline to answer any question, for any reason. You may stop the interview at any time if you choose not to continue. Please let me know at any time during the interview if you have any questions or would like me to explain what I mean by any of the terms being used or questions being asked.

As you know, I am recording this interview. The recordings will be transcribed and I will analyze them to write my report. I will not use the recording for any other purpose. Any personally identifying information about you will remain confidential, and I will not use your name or personally identifying information in any reports. The name of your organization may be included. Do you have any questions?

Let's begin.

1. Organization

- a. Tell me about your educational background. How long have you been working in HIV?
- b. Tell me about [organization name].
 - i. What is its structure?
 - 1. How much staff and of what types?
 - ii. How are decisions made in [organization name]?
 - 1. Is there a mission statement?
 - iii. What is the organizational culture like?
 - iv. How did the clinic start? How long has it been around?
- c. Tell me about your role in this organization.
- d. Tell me about the community you see here.
 - i. What are their demographics? Are they mostly homogenous in terms of race, education, age, and income, or are they diverse? How many are positive and negative?
- e. How much is PrEP a part of this organization's operations?

i. Do you do HIV testing? How many people does your agency test? What kind of tests do you provide? What population(s) get tested here?

2. Barriers: stigma, cost, and knowledge

- a. Why might a man who has sex with men in Pittsburgh not be on PrEP?
 - i. Differences by race? By age?
- b. What are some PrEP access issues in the community you work with?
 - i. Do people know about PrEP?
 - ii. Do people know where and how to get PrEP?
 - iii. How many people that come here are insured? Medicaid or private insurance? Uninsured?
 - iv. Has anyone used payment assistance programs for PrEP? Do people who come here for services know about them?
- c. What have you heard about stigma and PrEP in the community you work with?
 - i. Risk compensation fears
 - ii. Signaling as sexually promiscuous
 - iii. Mixed messages from HIV prevention field
 - iv. What might you tell a client who meets the criteria for PrEP but voices these concerns?
- d. How do your patients/clients get connected to your organization?
 - i. Do they bring up PrEP, or do you/your providers?
- e. What are some concerns about taking PrEP that you hear from the patients/clients you work with?

3. <u>Mitigating barriers: education, outreach, programs, policies</u>

- a. What might governmental organizations do to help your patients be connected to PrEP? How about nonprofits? Private-sector organizations?
- b. What does your agency do to increase PrEP knowledge among patients who are eligible? Or among the community at large?
- c. How is PrEP different for Black MSM, compared to white MSM? Are there differences in stigma or access? What approaches and practices are needed?
- d. How did your organizational policies change when you started working with PrEP? If they haven't changed, are there ways that you would like them to change?
 - i. Continuing education support for providers
 - ii. Train and educate front-line staff
 - iii. PrEP champion
 - iv. Protocol to accommodate testing every 3 months

4. Miscellaneous

- a. What unintended consequences have you noticed PrEP having in your patients?
- b. What do you hope your organization can do with PrEP that it is not already?

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Herrick AL, Lim SH, Wei C, Smith H, Guadamuz T, Friedman MS, et al. Resilience as an untapped resource in behavioral intervention design for gay men. AIDS and behavior. 2011;15 Suppl 1:S25-9.
- 2. Johnson WD, Diaz RM, Flanders WD, Goodman M, Hill AN, Holtgrave D, et al. Behavioral interventions to reduce risk for sexual transmission of HIV among men who have sex with men. The Cochrane Library. 2008;1(CD001230).
- 3. Jeffrey H. Herbst CB, Anita Mathew, Tarra McNally, et al. The Effectiveness of Individual-, Group-, and Community-Level HIV Behavioral Risk-Reduction Interventions for Adult Men Who Have Sex with Men: A Systematic Review. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2007;32(4S):S38-S67.
- 4. Coates TJ, Richter L, Caceres C. Behavioural strategies to reduce HIV transmission: how to make them work better. Lancet. 2008;372(9639):669-84.
- 5. The White House. The National HIV/AIDS Strategy: Updated to 2020. Online: July 30, 2015.
- 6. Purcell DW, Johnson CH, Lansky A, Prejean J, Stein R, Denning P, et al. Estimating the Population Size of Men Who Have Sex with Men in the United States to Obtain HIV and Syphilis Rates. The Open AIDS Journal. 2012;6(Suppl 1: M6):98-107.
- 7. GA Millett JP, SA Flores, et al. Comparisons of disparities and risks of HIV infection in black and other men who have sex with men in Canada, UK, and USA: a meta-analysis. Lancet. 2012;380(9839):341-8.
- 8. GA Millett SF, JL Peterson, R Bakeman. Explaining disparities in HIV infection among black and white men who have sex with men: a meta-analysis of HIV risk behaviors. AIDS. 2007;21(15):2083-91.
- 9. Matthews DD, Herrick AL, Coulter RW, Friedman MR, Mills TC, Eaton LA, et al. Running Backwards: Consequences of Current HIV Incidence Rates for the Next Generation of Black MSM in the United States. AIDS and behavior. 2016;20(1):7-16.
- 10. Matthews DD, Smith JC, Brown AL. Reconciling Epidemiology and Social Justice in the Public Health Discourse Around the Sexual Networks of Black Men Who Have Sex With Men. American Journal of Public Health. 2016; Published online ahead of print: e1-e7.
- 11. Rotheram-Borus MJ, Swendeman D, Chovnick G. The Past, Present, and Future of HIV Prevention: Integrating Behavioral, Biomedical, and Structural Intervention Strategies for the Next Generation of HIV Prevention. Annual review of clinical psychology. 2009;5:143-67.
- 12. CDC. Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP) for HIV Prevention. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control, 2014.
- 13. Grant RM, Lama JR, Anderson PL, et al. Preexposure Chemoprophylaxis for HIV Prevention in Men Who Have Sex with Men. New England Journal of Medicine. 2010;363:2587-99.
- 14. Thigpen MC, Kebaabetswe PM, Paxton LA, al. e. Antiretroviral Preexposure Prophylaxis for Heterosexual HIV Transmission in Botswana. New England Journal of Medicine. 2012;367:423-34.

- 15. Baeten JM, Donnell D, Ndase P, al. e. Antiretroviral Prophylaxis for HIV Prevention in Heterosexual Men and Women. New England Journal of Medicine. 2012;367:399-410.
- 16. Kachit Choopanya MM, Pravan Suntharasamai, et al. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV infection in injecting drug users in Bangkok, Thailand (the Bangkok Tenofovir Study): a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. The Lancet. 2013;381(9883):2083-90.
- 17. Smeltz A. Pittsburgh officials aim to stop new cases of AIDS by 2020. Pittsburgh Post-Gazette. 2015.
- 18. NYSDOH. New York Has a Plan to End the AIDS Epidemic Online2015 [January 21, 2016]. Available from: http://www.health.ny.gov/diseases/aids/ending_the_epidemic/campaign/.
- 19. Highleyman L. SF plan to end HIV shows progress. The Bay Area Reporter. 2015.
- 20. Costa-Roberts D. 8 things you didn't know about Truvada. PBS NewsHour. 2015.
- 21. New CDC estimates underscore the need to increase awareness of a daily pill that can prevent HIV infection [press release]. OnlineNovember 24, 2015.
- 22. Arnold EA, Hazelton P, Lane T, Christopoulos KA, Galindo GR, Steward WT, et al. A qualitative study of provider thoughts on implementing pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) in clinical settings to prevent HIV infection. PloS one. 2012;7(7).
- 23. Leibowitz AA, Parker KB, Rotheram-Borus MJ. A US policy perspective on oral preexposure prophylaxis for HIV. Am J Public Health. 2011;101(6):982-5.
- 24. Paltiel AD, Freedberg KA, Scott CA, Schackman BR, Losina E, Wang B, et al. HIV preexposure prophylaxis in the United States: impact on lifetime infection risk, clinical outcomes, and cost-effectiveness. Clinical infectious diseases: an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2009;48(6):806-15.
- 25. Desai K, Sansom SL, Ackers ML, Stewart SR, Hall HI, Hu DJ, et al. Modeling the impact of HIV chemoprophylaxis strategies among men who have sex with men in the United States: HIV infections prevented and cost-effectiveness. Aids. 2008;22(14):1829-39.
- 26. Cahill S. Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis for HIV Prevention: Moving toward Implementation. Boston, MA: The Fenway Institute. 2012.
- 27. Knight R, Small W, Carson A, Shoveller J. Complex and conflicting social norms: implications for implementation of future HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) interventions in Vancouver, Canada. PloS one. 2016;11(1).
- 28. McCormack S, Dunn DT, Desai M, Dolling DI, Gafos M, Gilson R, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent the acquisition of HIV-1 infection (PROUD): effectiveness results from the pilot phase of a pragmatic open-label randomised trial. The Lancet. 2016;387(10013):53-60.
- 29. Mack N, Odhiambo J, Wong CM, Agot K. Barriers and facilitators to pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) eligibility screening and ongoing HIV testing among target populations in Bondo and Rarieda, Kenya: Results of a consultation with community stakeholders. BMC Health Services Research. 2014;14:231.
- 30. Al-Tayyib AA, Thrun MW, Haukoos JS, Walls NE. Knowledge of Pre-exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP) for HIV Prevention Among Men Who Have Sex with Men in Denver, Colorado. AIDS and behavior. 2014;18:340-7.
- 31. Calderon Y, Leider J, Cowan E, Brusalis C, Mantell J, Sandfort T. HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)- knowledge and attitudes among a New York City emergency department patient population. Retrovirology. 2012;9(Suppl 1):P94.
- 32. Liu AY, Kittredge PV, Vittinghoff E, Raymond HF, Ahrens K, Matheson T, et al. Limited Knowledge and Use of HIV Post- and Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis Among Gay and Bisexual Men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2008;47(2).

- 33. Mantell J, Sandfort T, Hoffmann S, Guidry J, Masvawure T, Cahill S. Knowledge and attitudes about pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) among sexually active men who have sex with men (MSM) participating in New York City pride events. LGBT Health. 2014;1(2).
- 34. Mimiaga MJ, Case P, Johnson CV, Safren SA, Mayer KH. Preexposure antiretroviral prophylaxis attitudes in high-risk Boston area men who report having sex with men: limited knowledge and experience but potential for increased utilization after education. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2009;50(1):77-83.
- 35. Oster AM, Wiegand RE, Sionean C, Miles IJ, Thomas PE, Melendez-Morales L, et al. Understanding disparities in HIV infection between black and white MSM in the United States. AIDS. 2011;25(8):1103-12.
- 36. Rucinski K, Mensah N, Sepkowitz K, Cutler B, Sweeney M, Myers J. Knowledge and use of pre-exposure prophylaxis among an online sample of young men who have sex with men in New York City. AIDS and behavior. 2013;17(6).
- 37. Senn H, Wilton J, Sharma M, Fowler S, Tan DHS. Knowledge of and Opinions on HIV Preexposure Prophylaxis Among Front-Line Service Providers at Canadian AIDS Service Organizations. AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses. 2013;29(9):1183-9.
- 38. Merson MH, O'Malley J, Serwadda D, Apisuk C. The history and challenge of HIV prevention. The Lancet. 2008;372(9637):475-88.
- 39. Seifert SM, al. e. Dose Response for Starting and Stopping HIV Preexposure Prophylaxis for Men Who Have Sex With Men. Clinical infectious diseases: an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2015;60(5):804-10.
- 40. Molina J, et al. On-Demand Preexposure Prophylaxis in Men at High Risk for HIV-1 Infection. New England Journal of Medicine. 2015;373(23):2237-46.
- 41. Liu A, al. e. Patterns and correlates of PrEP drug detection among MSM and transgender women in the Global iPrEx Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2014;67(5):528-37.
- 42. Krakower D, Mayer K. The role of healthcare providers in the roll out of preexposure prophylaxis. Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS. 2016;11(1):41-8.
- 43. Mansergh G, Herbst JH, Mimiaga MJ, Holman J. Preference for Condoms, Antiretroviral Preexposure Prophylaxis, or Both Methods to Reduce Risk for HIV Acquisition Among Uninfected US Black and Latino MSM. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2015;70(4):e153-e5.
- 44. Ho C, Lee T. PCV43 An Evaluation of Medication Adherence in Hypertensive Patients using the Theory of Planned Behavior. Value in Health. 2014;17(7):A763.
- 45. Kamran A, Ahari S, Biria M, Malepour A, Heydari H. Determinants of Patient's Adherence to Hypertension Medications: Application of Health Belief Model among Rural Patients. Annals of Medical and Health Sciences Research. 2014;4(6):922.
- 46. Barclay TR, Hinkin CH, Castellon SA, Mason KI, Reinhard MJ. Age-Associated Predictors of Medication Adherence in HIV-Positive Adults: Health Beliefs, Self-Efficacy, and Neurocognitive Status. Health Psychology. 2007;26(1):40-9.
- 47. Konkle-Parker DJ. Tailored Adherence Interventions for HIV-infected Adults based on the Transtheoretical Model of Change. The University of Mississippi Medical Center: ProQuest Dissertations Publishing; 2002.
- 48. Genberg B, Lee Y, Rogers W, Willey C, Wilson I. Stages of change for adherence to antiretroviral medications. AIDS Patient Care and STDs. 2013;27(10):567-72.
- 49. Warren AR, Steffen AM, Wayland S. Predicting Gay Affirmative Practice from the Theory of Planned Behavior. Journal of Gerontological Social Work. 2015;58(7-8):671-83.

- 50. Azjen I, Madden T. Prediction of goal-directed behavior: Attitudes, intentions, and perceived behavioral control. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology. 1986;22(453-474):453-74.
- 51. Stall R, Friedman M, Catania JA. Interacting Epidemics and Gay Men's Health: A Theory of Syndemic Production among Urban Gay Men. Unequal Opportunity: Health Disparities among Gay and Bisexual Men in the United States: Oxford University Press; 2007.
- 52. McLeroy K, Bibeau D, Steckler A, Glanz K. An Ecological Perspective on Health Promotion Programs. Health Education & Behavior. 1988;15(4):351-77.
- 53. Champion VL, Skinner CS. The Health Belief Model. In: Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K, editors. Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice. 4th ed. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 2008.
- 54. Carpenter CJ. A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of health belief model variables in predicting behavior. Health Communication. 2010;25(8):661-9.
- 55. Zhao J, Song F, Ren S, Wang Y, Wang L, Liu W, et al. Predictors of condom use behaviors based on the Health Belief Model (HBM) among female sex workers: a cross-sectional study in Hubei Province, China. PloS one. 2012;7(11).
- 56. Nöthling J, Kagee A. Acceptability of routine HIV counselling and testing among a sample of South African students: Testing the Health Belief Model. African Journal of AIDS Research. 2013;12(3):141-50.
- 57. Elsesser S, Oldenburg C, Biello K, et al. Seasons of Risk: Anticipated Behavior on Vacation and Interest in Episodic Antiretroviral Pre-exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP) Among a Large National Sample of U.S. Men Who have Sex with Men (MSM). AIDS Behavior [Internet]. 2015.
- 58. Stall R, Mills TC, Williamson J, Hart T, Greenwood G, Paul J, et al. Association of cooccurring psychosocial health problems and increased vulnerability to HIV/AIDS among urban men who have sex with men. AJPH. 2003;93(6):939-42.
- 59. DiClemente C, Prochaska J, Fairhurst S, Velicer W, Velasquez M, Rossi J. The process of smoking cessation: An analysis of precontemplation, contemplation, and preparation stages of change. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1991;59:295-304.
- 60. Prochaska JO, Redding CA, Evers KE. The Transtheoretical Model and Stages of Change. In: Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K, editors. Health Behavior and Health Education. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 2008.
- 61. Ficke D, Farris K. Use of the transtheoretical model in the medication use process. Ann Pharmacother. 2005;39(7-8):1325-30.
- 62. Andrew BJ, Mullan BA, de Wit JB, Monds LA, Todd J, Kothe EJ. Does the Theory of Planned Behaviour Explain Condom Use Behaviour Among Men Who have Sex with Men? A Meta-analytic Review of the Literature. AIDS and behavior. 2016.
- 63. Microbicide Trials Network. MTN: Microbicide Trials Network Online2014 [November 17, 2015]. Available from: http://www.mtnstopshiv.org/node/84.
- 64. Hood JE, Buskin SE, Dombrowski JC, Kern DA, Barash EA, Katzi DA, et al. Dramatic increase in preexposure prophylaxis use among MSM in Washington state. AIDS. 2016;30(3):515-9.
- 65. Burke RC, Wilson J, Kowalski A, Murrill C, Cutler B, Sweeney M, et al. NYC condom use and satisfaction and demand for alternative condom products in New York City sexually transmitted disease clinics. Journal of urban health: bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine. 2011;88(4):749-58.

- 66. US Census Bureau. American Community Survey. In: United States Census Bureau, editor. Washington, DC2014.
- 67. ACHD. Allegheny County Health Department Vital Statistics Data 2011.
- 68. Chen X, Murray B, Taylor M, Wiesenfeld HC. 2013 Annual STD Report. Pittsburgh, PA: Allegheny County Health Department, 2015.
- 69. CDC. HIV in the United States: At A Glance Atlanta, GA: Divsion of HIV/AIDS Prevention, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2015 [September 20, 2015]. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/statistics/basics/ataglance.html.
- 70. Patton MQ. Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods. 3rd ed. United States of America: Sage Publications; 2002.
- 71. D Cohen BC. Qualitative Research Guidelines Project. Online: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, July 2006.